IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LAWANDA DILLON

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VS.

APPELLANT

NO. 2009-CP-01228-COA

APPELLEE



NOV 2 3 2009

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Office of the Clerk Supreme Court Court of Appeals

BY:

Lawanda Dillon #140180 Kemper CCF Female Unit 374 Stennis Industrial Pk Rd Dekalb, MS 39328

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

PRO SE PRISONER BRIEF

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LAWANDA DILLON

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-CP-01228-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

1. Lawanda Dillon, Appellant pro se.

2. Honorable Jim Hood and staff, Attorney General

STATEMENT OF CASE

Lawanda Dillon was indicted by the Lincoln County Grand Jury on April 9, 2007 on a charge of murder. On June 19, 2008, the indictment was amended to reduce the charge to manslaughter. Dillon was convicted on or about the 20th day of June, 2008, pursuant to a plea of guilty, and was sentenced to a term of 14 years to serve in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with 5 years of post release supervision.

Dillon filed her PCR in the trial court on February 10, 2009, seeking relief from the conviction and sentence on the basis that her plea was entered involuntarily and as the result of ineffective assistance of counsel. Additionally, the trial court never advised Dillon that she had the right to seek direct review of her sentence which was imposed upon an open plea of guilty. The trial court improperly labeled the plea as an <u>Alford</u> plea when the plea was an open plea of guilty.

The trial court, without conducting a hearing or requiring the state to file an answer, subsequently summarily denied relief and dismissed the PCR motion which necessitated this appeal. The trial court never permitted Appellant to engage in discovery before actually entering an adverse order but referred to the fact that Appellant never pointed to any portion of the record which would support her claims.¹

Appellant Dillon was represented in the trial court by Honorable Sylvia Owens of Tupelo, Mississippi.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Appellant Dillon is presently incarcerated and is being housed in the Mississippi Department of Corrections at Dekalb, Mississippi, in service of a prison term imposed as a direct result of the conviction and sentence under attack in this case. Appellant has been continuously confined in regards to such sentence following the conviction and imposition by the trial court.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Appellant's guilty plea was an unknowing, involuntary, and unintelligent waiver of fundamental rights, entered in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment due process of law clause;

2. Counsel for defense was ineffective in plain violation of the Sixth Amendment, that is:

a. Violations of the Fifth Amendment;

Appellant could not point to evidence in a record which the trial court never permitted her to have access to by not allowing her to seek discovery of the record under the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. Sec. 99-39-15.

b. Violations of Civil and Miranda Rights;

3. The Court committed reversal error by condoning the state's actions of filing a frivolous indictment for murder, while knowing such charge to be without merit, and subsequently moving the court to amend the indictment after using a frivolous murder indictment to muscle Appellant into pleading guilty and while working in conjunction with defense counsel, as a conspiracy, to secure a plea of guilty. Such actions violates Appellant's rights under the 5th and 6th Amendment to the United States Constitution.

4. Appellant was subjected to a denial of due process of law where the trial court failed to advise Dillon of the correct law in regards to appealing a sentence rendered upon an open plea of guilty to the Supreme Court. Appellant Dillon was never told that, under applicable law, her sentence could be appealed to the Supreme Court for direct review where the Court ignored the lesser penalty which could have been imposed in the form of up to a \$500.00 fine and or imprisonment in the county jail for not more then one year or by both² and where the trial court gave no reason for such failure to consider such lesser sentence.

5. The acceptance of the guilty plea entered in this case, wherein issues of competency have been raised pursuant to Rule 9.06, prior to the court

² 97-3-25. Homicide; penalty for manslaughter.

Any person convicted of manslaughter shall be fined in a sum not less than five hundred dollars, or imprisoned in the county jail not more than one year, or both, or in the penitentiary not less than two years, nor more than twenty years.

compliance with Rule 9.06 violates the provision of Rule 9.06 of the Miss. uniform Rules of Cty. And Circuit Court practice.³

6. Appellant suffered a violation of her due process rights where she was deprived of a fair trial when the State had knowledge appellant was not guilty of any crime and that the death of the victim occurred at a time while appellant was defending herself and the lives of her children by attempting to get away from the victim. Such action violates movant's constitutional rights under the 5th and 6th Amendments to the United States Constitution.

Rule 9.06 COMPETENCE TO STAND TRIAL

If before or during trial the court, of its own motion or upon motion of an attorney, has reasonable ground to believe that the defendant is incompetent to stand trial, the court shall order the defendant to submit to a mental examination by some competent psychiatrist selected by the court in accordance with § 99-13-11 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972.

After the examination the court shall conduct a hearing to determine if the defendant is competent to stand trial. After hearing all the evidence, the court shall weigh the evidence and make a determination of whether the defendant is competent to stand trial. If the court finds that the defendant is competent to stand trial, then the court shall make the finding a matter of record and the case will then proceed to trial. If the court finds that the defendant is incompetent to stand trial, then the court shall commit the defendant to the Mississippi State Hospital or other appropriate mental health facility. The order of commitment shall require that the defendant be examined and a written report be furnished to the court every four calendar months, stating:

A. Whether there is a substantial probability that the defendant will become mentally competent to stand trial within the foreseeable future; and

B. Whether progress toward that goal is being made.

The defendant's attorney, as the defendant's representative, shall not waive any hearing authorized by this rule, but is authorized to consent, on behalf of the defendant, to necessary surgical or medical treatment and procedures. If at any time during such commitment, the court decides, after a hearing, that the defendant is competent to stand trial, it shall enter its order so finding and declaring the defendant competent to stand trial, after which the court shall proceed to trial.

If at any time during such commitment, the proper official at the Mississippi State Hospital or other appropriate mental health facility shall consider that the defendant is competent to stand trial, such official shall promptly notify the court of that effect in writing, and place the defendant in the custody of the sheriff. The court shall then proceed to conduct a hearing on the competency of the defendant to stand trial. If the court finds the defendant is not competent to stand trial, it shall order the defendant committed as provided above. If the court finds the defendant is competent to stand trial, then the case shall proceed to trial.

If within a reasonable period of time after commitment under the provisions of this rule, there is neither a determination that there is substantial probability that the defendant will become mentally competent to stand trial nor progress toward that goal, the judge shall order that civil proceedings as provided in § § 41-21-61 to 41-21-107 of the Mississippi Code of 1972 be instituted.

Said proceedings shall proceed notwithstanding that the defendant has criminal charges pending against him/her. The defendant shall remain in custody until determination of the civil proceedings.

7. The trial court erred in accepting the plea as an <u>Alford</u> plea when <u>Alford</u> was inapplicable to this case where the state confessed in the sentencing hearing that there was evidence that the victim had physically abused Appellant and had thrown a bring through the car window before he was hit. Thus, the victim could have easily caused himself to be ran over the first time and the second could have been accidentally when Appellant was looking to see where the victim was and to determine whether she could render help.

8. Whether the Cumulative effect of the Ineffectiveness of counsel deprived Appellant Dillon of her constitutional right to a fair trial and, if convicted at trial, an effective direct appeal to the Mississippi State appellate court, in violation of the 5th and 6th Amendments to the United States Constitution.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The record clearly reflects that Appellant acted properly in self-defense where she was attached at her home he deceased at a time when the deceased was not supposed to be on the premises.

The record reflects the state delivered to following statement as to described the events of the day immediately before the death of the deceased and when the deceased was killed. The prosecution witness, Joey Norton, (R. 172) presented that the concession to manslaughter in this case was made because of the extreme likelihood that a jury would be willing to excuse the defendant, at least partially, based upon the evidence of past physical abuse by Boris Jackson and the evidence that supported Appellant's claim that he had broken out her car window just a minute before she ran over him.⁴

The evidence presented demonstrates that Appellant was not guilty of the crime of manslaughter or any crime since she was defending her life and the lives of her children when she was attacked by Jackson and that while Jackson was ran over more then one time in the dark, it was by accident. Appellant was suffering from a battered women's syndrome which caused her to become enraged at Jackson when she feared he would harm her and her children and which should have been presented by her attorney at trial. The Court's clinical psychologist, Williams Curtis Lott, testified that Appellant had no violent history or history of aggressive or violent behaviors. (R. 163). Appellant was subjected to ineffective assistance of counsel in being advised to plead guilty to a crime which she was clearly, from the record, not guilty of.

⁴ The state presented this argument at the sentencing hearing which validated the fact that there was evidence that the deceased had not only physically abused Appellant in the past but he had also broken out her car window just before she had ran over him. Strangely, neither of the witnesses named by the state bothered to mention the fact that the deceased had been an abuser and had thrown the brick breaking the car glass. This presentation by the state also validates coorborates the the affidavits given by Zayrick Taylor, Zoretya Taylor, and Deletrick Taylor who was in the car with Appellant at the time of the incident. (R. 28-32)

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE

MEMORANDUM OF LAW AND ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF CLAIMS

Appellant would assert that her attorney was ineffective in failing to investigate her defense and to summon witnesses to testify. Defense counsel conspired wit the prosecution to secure a guilty plea to the offense of manslaughter by not objecting when the state filed a frivolous murder indictment to use as a tool to secure a manslaughter plea when there was no evidence to support a murder indictment or to request a murder indictment from the grand jury. Defense counsel knew the murder indictment was baseless but allowed the state to use such tactic as leverage against an unaware Dillon to persuade her to enter an open plea of guilty to manslaughter when this was the greatest crime in which the state could have pursued even at trial. Trial counsel was fully aware that movant's three children who was actually present at the scene of the alleged crime would have exonerated appellant of murder. Rather then objecting to the state's tactics in this case, defense counsel advise appellant to plead guilty to manslaughter in an open plea and without any agreement being in place. Such a plea, according to counsel, would be with the state's agreement to reduce the charge from murder to manslaughter. Based upon such actions, the plea of guilty was coerced and involuntary in this instance.

The fear of a life sentence, for not pleading guilty, destroyed Dillon's ability to think and balance the risk and benefits of going to trial. When the issue of voluntariness is raised, the burden of proof remains upon the State to prove voluntariness of guilty plea by clear and convincing evidence. See <u>Courtney v. State</u>, 704 So.2d 1352 1352 (Miss.App. 1997).

9

Under URCCC 8.04(A)(3), "before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntarily and intelligently made and that there is factual basis for the plea." In <u>Corley v. State</u>, 585 So.2d 765, 767 (Miss. 1991), the Supreme Court of Mississippi discussed Rule 3.03(2), Miss. Unif. Crim. R Cir. Ct. Pract. (1979, as amended), requiring that the trial court have before it "... substantial evidence that the accused did commit the legally defined offense to which he is offering the plea." <u>See</u>, e.g., <u>Sykes v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 1118, 1124 (Miss. 1988); <u>Reynolds v. State</u>, 521 So.2d 914, 917 (Miss. 1988).

⁵The Mississippi Supreme Court has long recognized that the courts of the State of Mississippi are open to those incarcerated at Mississippi Correctional facilities and Institutions ⁶ raising questions regarding the voluntariness of their pleas of guilty to criminal offenses or the duration of confinement. <u>Hill v. State</u>, 388 So.2d 143, 146 (Miss.1980); <u>Watts v. Lucas</u>, 394 So.2d 903 (Miss. 1981); <u>Ball v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 423, 425 (Miss. 1983); <u>Tiller v. State</u>, 440 So.2d 1001, 1004-05 (Miss. 1983). This case represents one such instance.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has continuously recognized that a plea of guilty may be challenged for voluntariness by way of the Mississippi Uniform Post Conviction Collateral Relief Act.

INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Appellant Dillon was denied her Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel where her attorney, representing her during the plea and sentencing proceedings, advised Dillon to plead guilty openly to manslaughter and the original indictment of greatest offense in which

5

⁶ While the Mississippi Supreme Court specified "Inmates at the Mississippi State Penitentiary", it is clear that this decision would apply to any inmate confined within or without the State of Mississippi who has been subjected to a Mississippi conviction and sentence which they desire to attack collaterally.

Dillon should have initially been indicted under. Defense counsel worked with the prosecution to secure such plea.

In. Jackson v. State, So.2d (Miss. 2002) (No. 2000-KA-01195-SCT), the Court held the following in regards to ineffective assistance of counsel:.

Our standard of review for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is a two-part test: the defendant must prove, under the totality of the circumstances, that (1) him attorney's performance was deficient and (2) the deficiency deprived the defendant of a fair trial. <u>*Hiter v.*</u> <u>State</u>, 660 So.2d 961, 965 (Miss.1995).

Anyone claiming ineffective assistance of counsel has the burden of proving, not only that counsel's performance was deficient but also that he was prejudiced thereby. <u>Strickland v.</u> <u>Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Additionally, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for him attorney's errors, he would have received a different result in the trial court. <u>Nicolaou v. State</u>, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992). Finally, the court must then determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial based upon the totality of the circumstances. <u>Carney v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 776, 780 (Miss. 1988).

In <u>Ward v. State</u>, So.2d (Miss. 1998) (96-CA-00067), the Supreme Court held the following:

Effective assistance of counsel contemplates counsel's familiarity with the law that controls him client's case. See <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984) (noting that counsel has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial reliable); see also <u>Herring v. Estelle</u>, 491 F.2d 125, 128 (5th Cir. 1974) (stating that a lawyer who is not familiar with the facts and law relevant to the client's case cannot meet the constitutionally required level of effective assistance of counsel in the course of entering a guilty plea as analyzed under a test identical to the first prong of the <u>Strickland</u> analysis); <u>Leatherwood v. State</u>, 473 So. 2d 964, 969 (Miss. 1985) (explaining that the basic duties of criminal defense attorneys include the duty to advocate the defendant's case; remanding for consideration of claim of ineffectiveness where the defendant alleged that him attorney did not know the relevant law).

11

In the instant case, defense counsel acted in concert with the prosecution to assist in securing a guilty plea openly. Defense counsel made no attempt to secure a particular agreement on sentence recommendation as would be proper in a plea of guilty.

To successfully claim ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must meet the two-prong test set forth in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). This test has also been recognized and adopted by the Mississippi Supreme Court. <u>Alexander v. State</u>, 605 So.2d 1170, 1173 (Miss. 1992); <u>Knight v. State</u>, 577 So.2d 840, 841 (Miss. 1991); <u>Dillon v. State</u>, 577 So.2d 840, 841 (Miss. 1991); <u>Dillon v. State</u>, 577 So.2d 840, 841 (Miss. 1991); <u>Waldrop v. State</u>, 506 So.2d 273, 275 (Miss. 1987), <u>aff'd after remand</u>, 544 So.2d 834 (Miss. 1989); <u>Stringer v. State</u>, 454 So.2d 468, 476 (Miss. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1230 (1985).

The Mississippi Supreme Court visited this issue in the decision of <u>Smith v. State</u>, 631 So.2d 778, 782 (Miss. 1984). The <u>Strickland</u> test requires a showing of (1) deficiency of counsel's performance which is, (2) sufficient to constitute prejudice to the defense. <u>McQuarter</u> 506 So.2d at 687. The burden to demonstrate the two prongs is on the defendant. <u>Id</u>; <u>Leatherwood v. State</u>, 473 So.2d 964, 968 (Miss. 1994), *reversed in part, affirmed in part*, 539 So.2d 1378 (Miss. 1989), and he faces a strong rebuttable presumption that counsel's performance falls within the broad spectrum of reasonable professional assistance. <u>McQuarter</u>, 574 So.2d at 687; <u>Waldrop</u>, 506 So.2d at 275; <u>Gilliard v. State</u>, 462 So.2d 710, 714 (Miss. 1985). The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that for him attorney's errors, defendant would have received a different result. <u>Nicolaou v. State</u>, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992); <u>Ahmad v. State</u>, 603 So.2d 843, 848 (Miss. 1992).

In <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984), the United States Supreme Court held as follows:

In assessing attorney performance, all the Federal Courts of the Appeals and all but a few state courts have now adopted "reasonably effective assistance" standard in one formulation or another. See Trapnell v. United States, 725 F.2d 149, 151-152 (CA2 1983); App. B to Brief for United States in United States v. Cronic, O. T. 1983, No. 82-660, pp. 3a-6a; Sarno, [466 U.S. 668, 684] Modern Status of Rules and Standards in State Courts as to Adequacy of Defense Counsel's Representation of Criminal Client, 2 A. L. R. 4th 99-157, 7-10 (1980). Yet this Court has not had occasion squarely to decide whether that is the proper standard. With respect to the prejudice that a defendant must show from deficient attorney performance, the lower courts have adopted tests that purport to differ in more than formulation. See App. C to Brief for United States in United States v. Cronic, supra, at 7a-10a; Sarno, supra, at 83-99, 6. In particular, the Court of Appeals in this case expressly rejected the prejudice standard articulated by Judge Leventhal in his plurality opinion in United States v. Decoster, 199 U.S. App. D.C. 359, 371, 374-375, 624 F.2d 196, 208, 211-212 (en banc), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 944 (1979), and adopted by the State of Florida in Knight v. State, 394 So.2d, at 1001, a standard that requires a showing that specified deficient conduct of counsel was likely to have affected the outcome of the proceeding. 693 F.2d, at 1261-1262. For these reasons, we granted certiorari to consider the standards by which to judge a contention that the Constitution requires that a criminal judgment be overturned because of the actual ineffective assistance of counsel. 462 U.S. 1105 (1983). We agree with the Court of Appeals that the exhaustion rule requiring dismissal of mixed petitions, though to be strictly enforced, is not jurisdictional. See Rose v. Lundy, 455 U.S., at 515 -520. We therefore address the merits of the constitutional issue.

ΙI

In a long line of cases that includes Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45 (1932), Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458 (1938), and Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963), this Court has recognized that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel exists, and is needed, in order to protect the fundamental right to a fair trial. The Constitution guarantees a fair trial through [466 U.S. 668, 685] the Due Process Clauses, but it defines the basic elements of a fair trial largely through the several provisions of the Sixth Amendment, including the Counsel Clause: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against his; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence." Thus, a fair trial is one in which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an impartial tribunal for resolution of issues defined in advance of the proceeding. The right to counsel plays a crucial role in the adversarial system embodied in the Sixth Amendment, since access to counsel's skill and

knowledge is necessary to accord defendants the "ample opportunity to meet the case of the prosecution" to which they are entitled. Adams v. United States ex rel. McCann, 317 U.S. 269, 275, 276 (1942); see Powell v. Alabama, supra, at 68-69.

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