#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LAWANDA DILLON

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2009-CP-1228-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

#### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR N

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

###

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant was indicted for Murder in the death of Boris E. Jackson. (Cp.25) Subsequently as part of plea negotiations the indictment was amended to Manslaughter and defendant pled guilty. (Cp. 26, 144 (order amending)). Defendant, aided by counsel, pled guilty and was sentenced. (C.p. 145).

A motion for post-conviction relief was filed in February 2009. (Cp.3-32). The trial court denied the petition with extensive findings of fact and conclusions of law. (Cp. 34-38).

A notice of appeal was timely filed. (C.p. 40).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The victim and defendant were fighting, defendant got in a car drove behind her victim, sped up, swerved, and knocked over a stop sign before running over Boris Jackson. She then put her car in reverse backing over Jackson, turned her car around and ran over him again, turned around and ran over him again, then opened the door to look at his body. A witness would have testified that Jackson screamed "you done hit me once" before she made her second, third, and fourth passes. (Order of trial court denying PCR, c.p. 35-36). She was, justifiably, indicted for murder. As part of a plea agreement the charges where reduced and defendant quite willingly pled guilty to avoid a potential life sentence.

Aggrieved she filed for post conviction relief, which was denied and is now appealing that ruling before this reviewing court.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

I.

#### Defendant had Constitutionally effective assistance of counsel.

The trial court specifically found there were no instances of deficient performance nor any prejudice. Defendant did not meet either prong of *Strickland*.

TT

The trial court was not required to inform defendant of any right to appeal the sentence after entry of a plea of guilty.

Trial courts are not required to inform the defendant of their right to direct appeal a sentence after entry of a guilty plea.

#### III.

The record is replete with evidence that defendant was competent and thinking clearly when she entered her plea.

The trial court addressed the issue in the order denying relief. Further it is supported by a psychiatric report in the record, and testimony elicited by defense of a psychologist at sentencing hearing. Such satisfies the 'hearing' requirement under the rationale of *Hearn* and *Sanders*.

#### IV.

The trial court correctly accepted defendant's Alford plea.

There was evidence of actual guilt, no claim of innocence and there was a real benefit to pleading to the lesser offense of Manslaughter.

#### V.

There is no 'cumulative' error warranting the granting of any relief.

It is the position of the State there being no individual error not even the raising of an "harmless" error there can be no collective addition to reach cumulative error.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I.

## DEFENDANT HAD CONSTITUTIONALLY EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

In this initial allegation of error defendant asserts she had ineffective assistance of counsel. The trial court specifically and directly addressed this issue in all its forms – specifically that under the *Strickland* analysis the actions of her attorney singly and collectively did not meet the first prong. Consequently, failing on either prong the claim is without merit. (Order denying relief, pg. 34-37).

The trial court, out of an abundance of caution went further and addressed the second *Strickland* prong of prejudice. Specifically noting the record supports all conclusions of defendant *to the contrary*. (Order denying relief, pg. 37, 2<sup>nd</sup> full paragraph).

In order for a contested fact to require an evidentiary hearing it must be material. Moreover, where an affidavit is belied by unimpeachable documentary evidence in the record such as, for example, a transcript or written statements of the affiant to the contrary, to the extent that the court can conclude that the affidavit is a sham, no hearing is required. (emphasis added).

King v. State, 679 So.2d 208, 211 (Miss. 1996).

It is worth noting with reference to this first claim that there was a conspiracy and no evidence sufficient to support murder to indict – the trial court in his enunciated facts clearly has enough facts to support a grand jury finding probable

cause to indict defendant.

Based upon the comprehensive order of the trial court denying relief and the reference to the facts the State will rely upon the facts, reasoning and rationale of the trial court.

On appeal, defendant has added nothing to counter or support the position of conspiracy or to counter her willingness to knowingly plead guilty to manslaughter.

¶ 2. Smith first argues that he did not voluntarily and intelligently enter his guilty plea due to the ineffectiveness of his counsel. "Our standard of review pertaining to voluntariness of guilty pleas is well settled: 'this Court will not set aside findings of a trial court sitting without a jury unless such findings are clearly erroneous.' [...] The burden of proof is on the defendant to prove both prongs, and the adequacy of counsel's performance as to its deficiency and prejudicial effect should be measured by a totality of the circumstances. Ratliff v. State, 752 So.2d 416(¶6) (Miss.Ct.App.1999). However, there is a strong, yet rebuttable, presumption that the actions by the defense counsel were reasonable and strategic. Id.

Smith v. State, 845 So.2d 730, 731 (Miss.App. 2003).

Based upon the prevailing deferential standard of review, the comprehensive order of the trial court as amply supported by the record on appeal the State would ask that no relief be granted.

#### II.

# THE TRIAL COURT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO INFORM DEFENDANT OF ANY RIGHT TO APPEAL THE SENTENCE AFTER ENTRY OF A PLEA OF GUILTY.

In this allegation of error defendant asserts she was denied her due process right because the trial court failed to inform her of a right to direct appeal of a sentence given upon a guilty plea – at the time she pled guilty. (The law has since been changed).

Be that as it may, after the filing of her brief a case was decided which is clearly and succinctly addresses this claim, to wit:

¶ 17.... a defendant may directly appeal the sentence given as a result of that plea even though a conviction from a guilty plea may not be directly appealed. Trotter v. State, 554 So.2d 313, 315 (Miss.1989). Nevertheless, a trial court is not required to inform the defendant of his right to direct appeal his sentence after he enters a guilty plea. Cook, 990 So.2d at 793(¶ 11). Thus, this issue is without merit.

Cherry v. State, 24 So.3d 1048, 1053 (Miss.App. 2010)(Emphasis added).

Accordingly, no relief should be granted on this allegation of trial court error as the court was not in error under the rationale of *Cherry* and *Cook*.

#### III.

## THE RECORD IS REPLETE WITH EVIDENCE THAT DEFENDANT WAS COMPETENT AND THINKING CLEARLY WHEN SHE ENTERED HER PLEA.

Defendant asserts she was not afforded a hearing after there was an *agreed* order for a psychiatric evaluation. C.p. 79-80. The trial court had seen the report. (C.p. 162). (Psychiatric Report, c.p. 131-142). After the guilty plea and before sentencing the examining forensic scientist testified at the hearing.

¶20. While instructive, Hearn is distinguishable from our case today. In Hearn, a court-appointed psychiatrist "testified at trial as to Hearn's competency and was subjected to cross-examination." Hearn, 3 So.3d at 730. Specifically, during trial testimony, one of the examining physicians testified that he and two other medical experts "unanimously concluded that Hearn was competent to stand trial." Id. at 729. Since "Hearn was afforded the opportunity to present competing evidence" this Court determined that the purpose of Rule 9.06 was satisfied by this Court. Id. at 730.

Sanders v. State, 9 So.3d 1132, 1137 (Miss. 2009)(emphasis added).

So, at the time of the guilty plea and sentencing, it would appear the State and defense agreed to have the defendant evaluated. The evaluations (there appear to have been two done – one by Chris Lott and one by Keith Caruso (c.p. 131-142)). The court was aware of these reports and Chris Lott testified at her sentencing. Earlier, the trial court after extensive questioning had determined that defendant Dillon had knowingly, willingly, freely, voluntarily and intelligently entered her guilty plea pursuant to *Alford* and that there exists a factual basis for her plea. C.p. 156.

And finally, in the order denying post conviction relief the trial court specifically found "... the record is replete with evidence that Dillon was competent and thinking clearly when she entered her plea. C.p. 35.

Accordingly, based upon the entire record the court did make a judicial determination that defendant was competent. Further, there is nothing in the record to indicate otherwise even now.

No relief should be granted on this allegation of trial court error.

#### IV.

### THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY ACCEPTED DEFENDANT'S ALFORD PLEA.

Continuing the challenge to her conviction for running down Mr. Jackson with her Buick, defendant now asserts the trial court should not have accepted her *Alford* plea as it was not legally appropriate to her circumstances.

In this argument defendant has adopted, whole cloth, the concurring opinion and rationale expressed in *Elliott v. State*, 2009 WL 3588552, 11(Miss.App. 2009)(dec. Nov. 3, 2009).

First of all there is no doubt there was a factual basis, there were eye-witnesses (in addition to her three children in the Buick). In the motion denying post-conviction relief the judge reiterated a harrowing fact statement that would support not only manslaughter but murder.

So, there was a legal advantage or benefit. This was part of a deal – everyone was aware of it – it was not a failure of proof, the deal was we could go to trial and you could get life – or you can plead to manslaughter (maximum sentence 20 years), and actually she got, in essence, 14 year. (Current anticipated release in time for Thanksgiving, 2020).

The trial court specifically covered *Alford* with defendant (C.p. 152-53), defendant admitted that if the State went to trial they could prove she was guilty. She answered "Yes, sir." Same recognition of the proof and her guilt, c.p. 155 and then when

specifically if she wanted to plead guilty she again said "Yes." C/p. 156.

There was no assertion of innocence by either defendant or her attorney.

Concluding, there is and was strong eyewitness testimony of guilt (even her children's affidavits could be viewed as evidence of guilt), there was never any assertion of innocence and there was a definite benefit to pleading guilty.

¶ 7. The trial court's dismissal of a motion for post-conviction relief will not be disturbed unless the decision is clearly erroneous. Williams v. State, 872 So.2d 711, 712(¶ 2) (Miss.Ct.App.2004).

Elliott v. State, 2009 WL 3588552, 11(Miss.App. 2009)(dec. Nov. 3, 2009).

#### V.

## THERE IS NO 'CUMULATIVE' ERROR WARRANTING THE GRANTING OF ANY RELIEF.

Lastly, defendant asserts the cumulative error should garner her an evidentiary hearing on whether he plea was voluntary.

Well, the trial court that saw her in court and heard her, from her experts and saw the mental evaluations and heard some of the facts that would be offered in proof and asking her question directly (when represented by counsel) didn't feel she deserved an evidentiary hearing.

However, the trial court did summarily dismiss the petition but considered the petition, and exhibits and made extensive findings of fact and conclusions of law in denying relief. (Cp. 34-38).

¶ 4. This Court will not disturb a circuit court's factual findings in the denial of a petition for post-conviction relief unless those findings were clearly erroneous. Pullem v. State, 820 So.2d 793, 794(¶ 3) (Miss.Ct.App.2002) (citing Brown v. State, 731 So.2d 595, 598(¶ 6) (Miss.1999)).

Harding v. State, 17 So.3d 1129, 1131 (Miss.App. 2009).

As the State has succinctly and clearly argued in each of the four arguments above there was no error – not even a close call. So it is the position of the State there being no individual error not even the raising of an "harmless" error there can be no collective addition to reach cumulative error.

¶ 13. Lastly, Harding argues that the errors that occurred in her case, taken

together, warrant reversal. Under the cumulative-error doctrine, "individual errors, which are not reversible in themselves, may combine with other errors to make up reversible error, where the cumulative effect of all errors deprives the defendant of a fundamentally fair trial." Ross v. State, 954 So.2d 968, 1018 (¶ 138) (Miss.2007) (citing Byrom v. State, 863 So.2d 836, 847(¶ 12) (Miss.2003)). Under this reasoning, if there are no individual errors, there can be no cumulative error that warrants reversal. Harris v. State, 970 So.2d 151, 157(¶ 24) (Miss.2007) (citing Gibson v. State, 731 So.2d 1087, 1098(¶ 31) (Miss.1998)). We have found that the circuit court committed no error in accepting Harding's guilty plea; therefore, there can be no cumulative error. This issue is without merit.

Harding v. State, 17 So.3d 1129, 1133 (Miss.App. 2009).

Such rationale has oft been adopted by reviewing courts and the State would as this court to apply the same and deny any relief.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the trial court denial of post-conviction relief.